

Original Research Article

Effect of the ripening stages on some biochemical and nutritional properties in *Caricapapaya* L. (cv. Solo 8) pulp, skin, and seeds

ABSTRACT

The present study was aimed at investigating some biochemical properties and mineral contents in pulp, skin, and seeds of *Caricapapaya* cv. solo 8 as a function of ripening stage. *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 fruits were obtained from a village plantation in Azaguié area's (5° 38' 00" N and 4° 05' 00" W) in Côte d'Ivoire. Papaya fruits were harvest at four ripening stages especially unripe, 1/8 advanced, 1/4 advanced and advanced. Skin, pulp and seeds were separated, and they were oven dried and ground to obtain the crude flour. Proximate composition and mineral contents were investigated using standard methods. Results showed significant differences in moisture dry matter, protein, carbohydrate, ash, crude fibre, and total sugar contents as a function of the ripening stage, and from a fruit part to another. Pulp exhibited the highest contents of moisture (93.67 %), carbohydrate (96.62 g / 100 g DW), total and reducing sugars (respectively 4.28 and 1.10 %) which increase during ripening. The better ash (0.86 %) and protein (21.52 %) contents were obtained in skin at the advanced stage. The highest crude fibre content was found in seeds at unripe stage (1.86 %) and the pulps recorded the lowest values (between 0.19 and 0.28 %). As concerned mineral elements, there were increase in potassium, phosphorus, calcium, and magnesium contents in skin during ripening, while these mineral contents decrease in seeds and pulp. Skin recorded highest content in potassium (2344.80 to 6865.50 mg /100DW), phosphorus (691.51 to 1958.34 mg /100DW), calcium (306.32 to 632.27 mg /100DW), and magnesium (173.86 to 569.82 mg /100DW) especially at 1/4 advanced and advanced stages. Iron and zinc contents (respectively, 15.57 and 14.01 mg/ 100 g DW) were also greater in skin at advanced stages. All the parts of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 fruit at different ripening stages, especially the skin would provide significant portion of the Recommended Daily Allowances of several nutrients.

Keywords: Ripening stage, pulp, skin, seeds, *Carica papaya* var. Solo 8, biochemical characteristics

1. INTRODUCTION

Increasing attention is paid to the consumption of tropical fruits worldwide due to growing recognition of their value to human health [1]. Among them, papaya (*Caricapapaya* L.) is one

Comment [A1]: Harvested

Comment [A2]: Check for sentence formation.

Comment [A3]: del

Comment [A4]: ?

Comment [A5]: Check for sentence formation to get clarity in meaning.

Comment [A6]: Del

Comment [A7]: was

Comment [A8]: unit?

Comment [A9]: unit?

Comment [A10]: unit?

Comment [A11]: unit?

Comment [A12]: Mention the highlighting words

of the most cultivated and consumed fruits in tropical and subtropical regions in the world. *C. papaya* is typical of these regions, require temperatures sited between 21 and 33 °C and does not tolerate cold weather (less than 15 °C) [2].

The economic and nutritional potential of the plant has made it a fruit and vegetable of choice [3]. Ripe papaya is most consumed as fresh fruit whereas green papaya as vegetable usually after cooking or boiling [4]. Papaya fruit is an excellent source of pro-vitamin A and ascorbic acid. Indeed, it's ranked as one of the top fruit sources of ascorbic acid [5] with averages ranged between 45 and 60 mg/100 g fresh weight (FW), and reported values up to 154 mg/100 g FW [6]. Also, it is regarded as an excellent source of ascorbic acid, a good source of riboflavin and a fair source of iron, calcium, thiamin, niacin, pantothenic acid, vitamin B-6 and vitamin K [3].

The fruit is not just delicious and healthy, but whole plant parts, fruit, roots, bark, peel, seeds and pulp are also known to have medicinal properties. It has wide consumption owing to its pharmacological properties and can be used as a folk remedy for various disorders [7]. Extracts from different parts of *C. papaya* plant have shown their positive effects when used as anti-microbial, antioxidant, antimalarial, anti-ulcer, anti-HIV, anti-inflammatory, anti-cancer, anti-hypertensive, anti-fertility, anti-fungal and anti-diabetic [3, 8, 9, 10]. Thus, in India, unripe and ripe fruits are made into juice and drinks for treatment of stomach problems, obesity and urinary tract infection. Also, they are made into paste as topical dressings or cosmetic (ointment, soap) to treat burns and skin diseases and to remove snakebite poison [11, 12]. The leaves are used for colic, fever, beriberi, abortion, asthma [12]. In many Africa countries, papaya fruit is widely used as topical paste or dressing for treatment of paediatric burns [13]. Yoruba tribe of Nigeria used unripe fruit and leaf for the treatment of jaundice, malaria, hypertension, diabetes mellitus and hypercholesterolemia [14, 15, 16, 17]. It is noteworthy that different parts (skin, pulp, and seeds) of the fruit is used at different ripening stages.

According to Gayosso-Garcia et al. [18] and Ikram et al. [6], many factors including stage of ripeness can have significant effects on the chemical composition of papaya fruit. Thus, the progression of fruit through different maturity stages results in physiological and biochemical changes that modify fruit composition and encourages its consumption as a fresh fruit [1, 19]. The loss of fruit firmness is a consequence of changes in plant cell wall constituents that lead to weak cell-to-cell links and thus loss of rigidity and firmness, with softening indicating ripeness [19]. Many studies have focused on physicochemical or biochemical constituents variation during the ripening in the different parts of papaya fruit or the cultivar [1, 20, 21, 22]. As far as concerned papaya cv. solo 8, a cultivar widely produced in Côte d'Ivoire and exported to the countries of the European Union, there is no information concerning the biochemical composition during fruits ripening. In this paper, we report on some biochemical and nutritional properties in the different parts of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 at four ripening stages.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Raw Material

C. papaya cv. solo 8 fruits were obtained from a village plantation in Azaguié area's (5° 38' 00" N and 4° 05' 00" W) in Côte d'Ivoire. Papaya fruits were harvest at four ripening stages especially unripe, 1/8 advanced, 1/4 advanced and advanced. These ripening stages were defined according to the skin colour. unripe stage corresponds to skin totally green; 1/8 advanced stage corresponds to fruit with up to 12,5% of yellow skin; 1/4 advanced stage corresponds fruit with up to 25% of yellow skin; advanced stage corresponds to fruit with up to 75% of yellow skin. After harvest, fruits were transported in refrigerated truck at 10 °C to food science laboratory, NanguiAbrogoua University (Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire).

2.2. Sample preparation

Comment [A13]: Grammer check

Comment [A14]: What is the units or indicies to say it is advanced.

The fruits selected were washed and sanitized with a 200 ppm sodium hypochlorite solution. They were then manually peeled, and the skin, pulp and seeds were separated. The pulp was cut into small pieces. For each ripening stage, the different parts of the fruit were oven-dried at 45°C for 72 h. After drying, the samples were ground using a Mill IKA (Germany/Deutschland) blender. Fine crude flours were then obtained and placed in sealed containers for biochemical analyses.

2.3. Proximate Analysis

The moisture content was determined by drying in an oven at 105°C during 24 h to constant weight [AOAC23]. The crude protein content was calculated from nitrogen contents ($N \times 6.25$) obtained using the Kjeldahl method by AOAC [23]. The crude fat content was determined by continuous extraction in a Soxhlet apparatus for 8 h using hexane as solvent [AOAC23]. The total ash content was determined by incinerating in a furnace at 550°C [23]. The crude fibre content was determined by taking about 3.0 g sample as a portion of carbohydrate that resisted sulfuric acid (1.25%) and NaOH (1.25%) digestion followed by sieving (75 µm), washing, drying and ignition to subtract ash from fibre [23]. The carbohydrate content was determined by difference that is by deducting the mean values of other parameters that were determined from 100. Therefore % carbohydrate = 100 - (% moisture + % crude protein + % crude fat + % ash).

2.4. Mineral Analysis

The method described by AOAC [23] was used for mineral analysis. Flours were digested with a mixture of concentrated nitric acid (14.44 mol/L), sulfuric acid (18.01 mol/L) and perchloric acid (11.80 mol/L) and analysed using an atomic absorption spectrophotometer. As for the total phosphorus, it was determined as orthophosphate following the ascorbic acid method after acid digestion and neutralization using phenolphthalein indicator and combined reagent.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Proximate composition

Many factors such as physiological, biochemical, and molecular changes would affect proximate and nutritional composition of *C. papaya* during ripening [1]. Table 1 presents biochemical parameters in different parts of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 as a function of ripening stage. Significant differences were observed for moisture, dry matter, protein, carbohydrates, ash, crude fibre, and total sugars depending on the ripening stage. Moisture content in different parts of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 increases with the ripening stage. Therefore, dry matter decreases from unripe to ripe stages. These moisture contents varied between 77.35 and 93.67 % (Table 1). These values were similar to those reported (varying from 84.57 to 90.05 %) for *C. papaya* L. cv. *Eksotika* at five different maturity stages [24]. The highest moisture content was observed in the pulp at advanced stage (93.67 %) and lowest in seed at unripe stage (77.35 %). Hunt et al. [25] and Addai et al. [24] argue that moisture contents in unripe papaya were lower than those of hard ripe and very ripe fruits. Similar observations were reported by Nwofia et al. [26] for leaves, fruit, pulp, and seeds in some *C. papaya* L. morphotypes. It is well known that the moisture level in a fruit is an important factor as it may affect its consistency and overall acceptability [27].

C. papaya cv. solo 8 skin and seeds exhibited highest ash contents than pulps. This ash content increases in skin (from 0.77 to 0.86 %), while it decreases in seeds (from 0.80 to

Comment [WU15]: ?

0.62 %) from unripe to advanced or ripe stages. It is well known that ash of food samples gives an idea of the organic content from where the mineral contents could be obtained [28, 22]. This means the studied papaya skin (at the advanced stage) and seeds (at the unripe stage) would contain more mineral elements than the pulp which is the most consumed part. The ash contents obtained for skin and seeds of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 were higher than those found by Tripathi et al. [29] for mature green and ripe Rainbow papaya harvested in Hawaii (from 0.364 to 0.460 %).

The carbohydrate contents were found to be higher in pulp at all ripening stages. Then, the maximum value was of 96.62 g / 100 g DW found in pulp at ¼ advanced (very ripe) stage while skin at advanced (very ripe) stage presents the lowest carbohydrate content (77.45 g / 100 g DW). It is noteworthy that these carbohydrate contents increase during ripening in pulp and seeds, while it decreases in skin. Values obtained in this study were very higher than those reported by Chukwuka et al. [30] for *C. papaya* L. pulps, seeds, and peels at different stages of ripening. These authors recorded in the different ripening stages, values ranged between 18.47 – 32.18 %, 14.63 – 29.03% and 9.95 – 27.50% for unripe, hard ripe and very ripe, respectively. The high carbohydrate content suggests that *C. papaya* cv solo 8 pulp and other parts can be considered as a potential of carbohydrate for energy.

Total and reducing sugars increase during the studied fruit development from unripe to ripe stages. Similar observations were noted for *C. papaya* cv. solo from Brazil [31]. Total sugar as well as reducing sugar contents were recorded highest in the pulps varying, respectively from 1.15 to 4.28 % and 0.94 to 1.10 %. These sugar increases could be due to the enzymatic hydrolysis of polysaccharides into sugars, which occurs during fruits ripening [32, 33].

As shown in table 1, crude fibre content was highest at the unripe stage and, it decreases during ripening in the three studied parts of *C. papaya* cvsolo 8. The highest crude fibre content was found in seeds at unripe stage (1.86 %) and the pulps recorded the lowest values (between 0.19 and 0.28 %). The crude fibre content in pulp obtained in this study is lower compared to the values obtained by Egbonu et al.[34] for peels and seed of *C. papaya* oblong shaped variety. It is noteworthy that pulps of the studied papaya cultivar are not recognized good sources of fibers. Knowing benefits of fiber in the digestive tract, consumption of the skin could be recommended to helps to have normal bowel movements; thereby reducing constipation and aids nutrient absorption [35].

There was increase in protein content of different parts *C. papaya* cv solo 8 as a function of fruit ripening process. It seems that during ripening, protein synthesis is more required as mentioned by Iroka et al. [36]. So, the increase in protein contents *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 during ripening could be attributed to increased enzyme conversion or protein synthesis [37]. At the different ripening stages, skin of the studied papaya exhibited the best protein contents followed by the seeds and pulp, respectively. Crude protein contents varied from 3.10 to 21.52 %. The highest amount of crude protein was found in the skin at advanced stage (21.52 %), while the lowest was found in the pulp at unripe stage (3.10 %). Protein contents obtained for skin and pulp are higher than those found by Chukwuka et al. [30], who reported values between 1.46 and 0.29 % in pulp, and 10.56 and 6.89 in peel. Also, unlike to our results, these authors argued that crude proteins decrease with the ripening advanced in different parts of *C. papaya* L.

Comment [WU16]: Change to "Increase in sugar content"

Table 1. Proximate composition of *C. papaya* cv.solo 8 skin, pulp and seeds in different ripening stage.

Parameters	Fruit parts	<i>C. papaya</i> cv. solo 8
		Ripening stage

Comment [WU17]: Assign units for each set of data if not common for all.

		Unripe	1/8 advanced	1/4 advanced	Advanced
Moisture	Skin	88.76 ± 0.20 ^f	89.67 ± 0.01 ^g	90.58 ± 0.04 ^h	91.12 ± 0.00 ⁱ
	Pulp	88.60 ± 0.02 ^a	88.5 ± 0.01 ^a	92.65 ± 0.02 ^j	93.67 ± 0.04 ^k
	Seeds	77.35 ± 0.02 ^b	80.04 ± 0.01 ^c	82.52 ± 0.04 ^d	83.93 ± 0.04 ^e
Dry matter	Skin	11.39 ± 0.01 ^{ab}	10.33 ± 0.01 ^g	9.42 ± 0.01 ^f	8.86 ± 0.01 ^d
	Pulp	11.36 ± 0.04 ^a	11.41 ± 0.01 ^b	7.33 ± 0.01 ^d	6.32 ± 0.01 ^c
	Seeds	22.64 ± 0.01 ^k	19.96 ± 0.01 ^j	17.48 ± 0.02 ^l	16.04 ± 0.01 ^h
Proteins	Skin	14.33 ± 0.58 ^h	14.98 ± 0.01 ⁱ	15.74 ± 0.02 ^j	21.52 ± 0.01 ^k
	Pulp	3.10 ± 0.02 ^b	3.43 ± 0.01 ^c	6.19 ± 0.02 ^a	5.96 ± 0.01 ^a
	Seeds	8.20 ± 0.02 ^d	9.41 ± 0.02 ^e	10.45 ± 0.02 ^f	11.42 ± 0.02 ^g
Carbohydrates	Skin	83.32 ± 0.14 ^f	84.67 ± 0.43 ^a	84.15 ± 0.04 ^a	77.45 ± 0.50 ^e
	Pulp	93.39 ± 0.12 ^c	93.66 ± 0.10 ^c	96.62 ± 0.12 ^d	96.30 ± 0.10 ^d
	Seeds	86.55 ± 0.37 ^b	86.13 ± 0.46 ^b	88.54 ± 1.06 ^g	89.45 ± 0.46 ^h
Fats	Skin	0.01 ± 0.00 ^c	0.02 ± 0.00 ^e	0.03 ± 0.00 ^g	0.01 ± 0.00 ^c
	Pulp	0.00 ± 0.00 ^a	0.00 ± 0.00 ^b	0.00 ± 0.00 ^d	0.00 ± 0.00 ^b
	Seeds	0.00 ± 0.00 ^a	0.03 ± 0.00 ^h	0.04 ± 0.00 ⁱ	0.02 ± 0.00 ^f
Fibres	Skin	0.49 ± 0.01 ^c	0.44 ± 0.00 ^c	0.33 ± 0.01 ^f	0.25 ± 0.02 ^a
	Pulp	0.28 ± 0.00 ^a	0.27 ± 0.01 ^a	0.16 ± 0.02 ^b	0.19 ± 0.01 ^b
	Seeds	1.86 ± 0.01 ^e	1.82 ± 0.10 ^{de}	1.79 ± 0.02 ^d	1.58 ± 0.00 ^g
Ash	Skin	0.77 ± 0.0 ^d	0.72 ± 0.01 ^g	0.75 ± 0.00 ^c	0.86 ± 0.00 ⁱ
	Pulp	0.29 ± 0.01 ^e	0.17 ± 0.00 ^{ab}	0.18 ± 0.00 ^b	0.16 ± 0.00 ^a
	Seeds	0.80 ± 0.02 ^h	0.74 ± 0.01 ^c	0.78 ± 0.01 ^d	0.62 ± 0.01 ^f
Total sugars	Skin	1.02 ± 0.01 ^{de}	1.46 ± 0.01 ^a	1.12 ± 0.02 ^{ae}	1.45 ± 0.01 ^a
	Pulp	1.15 ± 0.01 ^{cd}	2.17 ± 0.01 ^f	1.26 ± 0.01 ^{ae}	4.28 ± 0.02 ^h
	Seeds	0.36 ± 0.01 ^b	0.64 ± 0.01 ^{bc}	0.68 ± 0.02 ^{bcd}	2.63 ± 0.02 ^g
Reducing sugars	Skin	0.60 ± 0.02 ^g	0.84 ± 0.01 ^b	0.85 ± 0.01 ^b	0.93 ± 0.06 ^c
	Pulp	0.94 ± 0.01 ^c	1.07 ± 0.02 ^{de}	1.00 ± 0.00 ^h	1.10 ± 0.02 ^e
	Seeds	0.09 ± 0.02 ^a	0.46 ± 0.01 ^f	0.09 ± 0.00 ^a	1.06 ± 0.03 ^d
Energy values	Skin	394.40±0.73 ^{bc}	394.61±1.12 ^{bc}	394.78±1.62 ^{bc}	390.44±0.18 ^{ab}
	Pulp	401.53±0.99 ^{cd}	403.58±0.55 ^{cd}	403.19±0.81 ^{cd}	401.84±0.21 ^{cd}
	Seeds	391.76±0.15 ^{ab}	390.96±1.29 ^{ab}	392.35±0.44 ^{ab}	392.40±0.36 ^{ab}

Values are mean ± standard deviation of three measurements (n = 3). For each parameter, ^{a,b,c} identical script indicate no significant difference between mean values.

3.2. Mineral contents

It is noteworthy that minerals play an important part in biological processes especially during fruits ripening. The recommended dietary allowance (RDA) and adequate intake are generally used to quantify suggested daily intake of minerals. Table 2 presents the mineral composition in different parts of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 as a function of ripening stage. Results reveal that potassium, phosphorus, calcium, and magnesium were the most preponderant minerals in the different parts of the studied papaya cultivar. Similar observations were reported by Tripathi et al. [30] and Santos et al. [38] for Rainbow papaya and for *Havaiand Calimosapapaya*, respectively. Also, significant differences in mineral content were observed between all parts at all the ripening stages.

There were increase in potassium, phosphorus, calcium, and magnesium contents in skin during ripening, while these mineral contents decrease in seeds and pulp. Skin recorded highest content in potassium (2344.80 to 6865.50 mg /100 DW), phosphorus (691.51 to 1958.34 mg /100 DW), calcium (306.32 to 632.27 mg /100 DW), and magnesium (173.86 to 569.82 mg /100 DW) especially at ¼ advanced and advanced stages. The lowest potassium (1506.26 to 860.39 mg /100 DW), phosphorus (305.42 to 66.39 mg /100 DW) and magnesium (275.55 to 54.17 mg /100 DW) contents were found in pulps, while seeds exhibited the lowest calcium (387.69 to 128.23 mg /100 DW) content. These mineral

Comment [WU18]: What is the statistical method was adopted to compare the data. It was not mentioned in the text. Calculating mean and standard error from 3 number of data (n=3) should not be accepted. The authors may insert atleast 6 number of data for each subgroup. The authors has to explain in detail the comparison indices for each supercript.

contents were higher than those reported for six *C. papaya* L. cultivars (*Guinea Gold* (Australia), *Sinta* (Philippines), *Honeydew* (India), *Cartagena* (Dominican Republic), *Maradol*(Cuba) and *Solo* (Barbados)) from different countries [39]. Moreover according Food and Nutrition Board[40] data, it should be noted that skin of the studied papaya cultivar would provide from 98.78 to 279.76 %, 49.89 to 146.07 %, 43.47 to 142.45 % and 30.63 to 63.23 % of the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA) of phosphorus, potassium, magnesium and calcium, respectively.

As regards Iron and Zinc contents, they were found to be higher in skin (varying from 7.56 to 15.57 mg/ 100 g DW for iron, and from 4.97 to 14.01 mg/ 100 g DW for zinc) as ripening advances. The lowest values were recorded in pulps (varying from 3.30 to 5.35 mg/ 100 g DW for iron, and no determined for zinc at 1/8 advanced, ¼ advanced and advanced stages). Iron contents obtained in this study were higher than those reported for peel (0.19 mg/ 100 g DW), pulp (0.37 g/ 100 g DW) and seeds (0.016 mg/ 100 g DW) of an Indian variety of *C. papaya* L. [21]. So, the iron content of 15.57 mg/ 100 g DW obtained in the skin at advanced stage would provide about 195 % of the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA) of iron, while the pulp (at ¼ advanced stage) would bring to human body about 67 % of this RDA [40]. This suggests that inclusion of *C. papaya* cv. solo 8 in the daily diet could improve iron status and help prevent anaemia, especially in developing countries where one in two pregnant women and about 40 percent of preschool children are believed to be anaemic. Indeed, as reported by FAO/WHO [41], health consequences include poor pregnancy outcomes, impaired physical and cognitive development, increased risk of morbidity in children and reduced work productivity in adults. Anaemia is a preventable deficiency but contributes to 20 percent of all maternal deaths.

Table 2. Mineral composition of *C. papaya* cv solo 8 skin, pulp and seeds in different ripening stage

Minerals	Fruit parts	<i>C. papaya</i> cv. solo 8			
		Ripening stage			
		Unripe	1/8 advanced	1/4 advanced	Advanced
Na	Skin	17.42 ± 0.06 ^d	18.44 ± 1.66 ^e	20.05 ± 1.56 ^g	20.24 ± 1.06 ^h
	Pulp	26.95 ± 1.34 ^k	15.24 ± 1.48 ^c	11.92 ± 1.64 ^b	6.91 ± 1.16 ^a
	Seeds	20.93 ± 1.50 ^l	25.77 ± 0.13 ^j	27.51 ± 1.95 ⁱ	29.60 ± 1.88 ^f
Mg	Skin	173.86 ± 0.12 ^b	201.50 ± 0.21 ^c	568.15 ± 1.02 ^l	569.82 ± 0.54 ^l
	Pulp	275.55 ± 1.16 ^h	238.27 ± 0.83 ^e	207.68 ± 1.14 ^d	54.17 ± 0.29 ^a
	Seeds	373.12 ± 1.29 ^j	250.70 ± 0.25 ^g	248.37 ± 1.38 ^f	238.45 ± 1.07 ^l
P	Skin	691.51 ± 0.11 ^l	829.71 ± 0.17 ^j	922.97 ± 0.02 ^k	1958.34 ± 1.15 ^l
	Pulp	305.42 ± 1.84 ^l	268.40 ± 1.84 ^e	130.30 ± 0.70 ^a	66.39 ± 0.59 ^b
	Seeds	545.90 ± 0.85 ^h	198.11 ± 0.27 ^d	186.21 ± 0.26 ^c	111.38 ± 1.21 ^g
K	Skin	2344.80 ± 1.23 ^g	3094.07 ± 0.91 ^j	3903.15 ± 1.44 ^k	6865.50 ± 0.92 ^l
	Pulp	1506.26 ± 1.63 ^e	1147.33 ± 0.33 ^b	950.17 ± 0.21 ^c	860.39 ± 0.46 ^a
	Seeds	2638.99 ± 0.7 ^l	2435.29 ± 1.52 ^h	1639.02 ± 1.17 ^f	1424.83 ± 1.8 ^d
Ca	Skin	306.32 ± 0.11 ^g	469.29 ± 1.45 ^l	552.83 ± 1.89 ^k	632.27 ± 0.94 ^l
	Pulp	253.10 ± 0.52 ^l	245.48 ± 1.83 ^e	194.11 ± 0.54 ^d	163.27 ± 1.98 ^c
	Seeds	387.69 ± 1.29 ^l	160.88 ± 0.18 ^b	145.92 ± 1.49 ^a	128.23 ± 0.57 ^h
Mn	Skin	Nd	3.65 ± 1.55 ^c	11.41 ± 1.56 ^l	10.90 ± 1.14 ^h
	Pulp	4.58 ± 0.41 ^l	4.63 ± 1.68 ^g	1.95 ± 1.01 ^b	0.51 ± 0.70 ^a
	Seeds	3.71 ± 0.42 ^d	4.16 ± 0.05 ^e	6.92 ± 1.80 ^l	Nd
Fe	Skin	7.56 ± 0.06 ^c	7.46 ± 1.32 ^c	8.75 ± 1.18 ^l	15.57 ± 1.68 ^l
	Pulp	3.30 ± 1.91 ^e	3.98 ± 1.50 ^g	5.35 ± 1.13 ^a	3.79 ± 1.51 ^l
	Seeds	3.12 ± 0.04 ^d	5.30 ± 0.21 ^b	5.41 ± 1.36 ^{ab}	5.76 ± 1.28 ^h

Comment [WU19]: Assign specific units to each set of data if not common.

Cu	Skin	4.60 ± 0.08 ^d	8.38 ± 0.28 ^g	18.87 ± 1.20 ^k	19.24 ± 1.22 ^l
	Pulp	2.67 ± 0.63 ^a	2.75 ± 0.75 ^a	3.98 ± 1.45 ^c	0.67 ± 0.51 ^b
	Seeds	7.42 ± 1.04 ^f	10.15 ± 0.16 ^h	14.99 ± 0.73 ^j	4.90 ± 0.05 ^e
Zn	Skin	4.97 ± 0.03 ^c	7.46 ± 1.93 ^f	14.02 ± 0.27 ^g	14.01 ± 0.94 ^g
	Pulp	0.20 ± 0.03 ^e	Nd	Nd	Nd
	Seeds	3.98 ± 1.21 ^a	3.20 ± 0.09 ^h	2.45 ± 0.25 ^d	1.38 ± 0.18 ^b

Values are mean ± standard deviation of three measurements (n = 3). For each mineral, ^{a,b,c} identical script indicate no significant difference between mean values.

Table 3. Ratios Ca/P and K/Na of *C. papaya cv. solo 8* skin, pulp and seeds in different ripening stage

Parameters	Fruit parts	<i>C. papaya cv solo 8</i>			
		Ripening stage			
		Unripe	1/8 advanced	1/4 advanced	Advanced
Ca/P	Skin	0.44 ± 0.01 ^b	0.56 ± 0.03 ^c	0.60 ± 0.02 ^d	0.32 ± 0.01 ^a
	Pulp	0.83 ± 0.02 ^h	0.91 ± 0.02 ⁱ	1.49 ± 0.03 ^k	2.46 ± 0.01 ^l
	Seeds	0.71 ± 0.01 ^e	0.81 ± 0.02 ^g	0.78 ± 0.02 ^f	1.15 ± 0.03 ^j
K/Na	Skin	134.60 ± 0.02 ^j	167.79 ± 0.06 ^l	194.67 ± 0.04 ^k	339.20 ± 0.05 ⁱ
	Pulp	55.89 ± 0.03 ^b	75.28 ± 0.02 ^d	79.71 ± 0.01 ^e	124.51 ± 0.05 ^g
	Seeds	126.08 ± 0.04 ^h	94.50 ± 0.03 ^f	59.58 ± 0.02 ^c	48.14 ± 0.01 ^a

4. CONCLUSION

Based on the present study results, it appears that *C. papaya cv. solo 8* is a considerable source of nutrients such as carbohydrate, fibre, protein, and mineral elements. These nutrients are unevenly distributed in the different parts of the fruit (skin, pulp, and seeds) and many variations are observed in these contents during maturation. Then, pulp showed higher moisture and carbohydrate contents at advanced stages, while better ash and fibre contents were found in seeds respectively at advanced and unripe stages. As regards the skin, it exhibited greater protein and mineral contents at advanced stage. Concerning mineral elements, all the parts of the studied fruit especially the skin showed considerable amount of magnesium, potassium, phosphorus, calcium, and iron that can provide a significant portion of the Recommended Daily Allowances.

REFERENCES

- Ovando-Martínez, M., López-Teros, V., Tortoledo-Ortiz, O., Astiazarán-García, H., Ayala-Zavala, J., Villegas-Ochoa, M., & González-Aguilar, G. (2018). Effect of ripening on physico-chemical properties and bioactive compounds in papaya pulp, skin and seeds. *Indian Journal of Natural Products and Resources*, 9(1), 47–59.
- Rivera-Pastrana, D., Yahia, E. M., & González-Aguilar, G. A. (2010). Phenolic and carotenoid profiles of papaya fruit (*Carica papaya* L.) and their contents under low temperature storage. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 90, 2358–2365.
- Vishal B, Sateesh B, Bhupesh M. The nature's potential multipurpose gift –papaya (*Carica papaya* Linn.): a complete overview. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research and Development* Vol. 2 (1) Jan. –Feb. 2014: 75-82.
- Anuar NS, Zahari SS, Taib IA, Rahman MT. 2008. Effect of Green and Ripe *Carica papaya* Epicarp Extracts on Wound Healing and during Pregnancy. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 46: 2384-2389.

Comment [WU20]: What is the statistical method was adopted to compare the data. It was not mentioned in the text. Calculating mean and standard error from 3 number of data (n=3) should not be accepted. The authors may insert at least 6 number of data for each subgroup. The authors have to explain in detail the comparison indices for each supercript.

Comment [WU21]: In the materials and methods or result section there is no description of estimation of Na (Sodium) how does authors determined the K/Na. Please explain.

Comment [WU22]: Describe the supercripts correctly.

5. Gebhardt, S.E., Thomas, R.G., 2002. Nutritive value of foods. Beltsville, Md. US Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Nutrient Data Laboratory, vol. 72. In: Home and Garden Bulletin. p. 95.
6. Ikram E H K, Stanley R, Netzel M, Fanning K. Phytochemicals of papaya and its traditional health and culinary uses – A review. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 41 (2015) 201–211.
7. Gonçalves de Oliveira J, Vitória A P. Papaya: Nutritional and pharmacological characterization, and quality loss due to physiological disorders. An overview. *Food Research International* 44 (2011) 1306–1313.
8. Osato, J.A.; Santiago, L.A.; Remo, G.M.; Cuadra, M.S.; Mori, A. Antimicrobial and antioxidant activities of unripe papaya. *Life Sciences* 1993, 53, 1383–1389.
9. Mehdipour, S.; Yasa, N.; Dehghan, G.; Khorasani, R.; Mohammadirad, A.; Rahimi, R.; Abdollahi, M. Antioxidant potentials of Iranian *Caricapapaya* juice *in vitro* and *in vivo* are comparable to α -tocopherol. *Phytotherapy Research* 2006, 20, 591–594.
10. Ayoola, P.B. and Adeyeye, A. Phytochemical and nutrient evaluation of *Caricapapaya* (pawpaw) leaves. *International Journal of Research and Reviews in Applied Sciences* 2010, 5, 325–328.
11. Khare, C.P., 2007. *Carica papaya* Linn., in *Indian Medicinal Plants (An Illustrated Dictionary)* Springer, New York, NY, USA, pp. 122–123.
12. Krishna, K. L., Paridhavi, M., Patel, J. A., Review on nutritional, medicinal and pharmacological properties of papaya (*Carica papaya* Linn.). *Nat. Prod. Rad.* 2008, 7, 364–373.
13. Starley, I.F.; Mohammed, P.; Schneider, G.; Bickler, S.W. The treatment of paediatric burns using topical papaya. *Burns* 1999, 25, 636–639.
14. Ene, A., Atawodi, S., Ameh, D., Kwanashie, H., Agomo, P., 2008. Locally used plants for malaria therapy amongst the Hausa, Yoruba and Ibo Communities in Maiduguri, North-Eastern Nigeria. *Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge* 9, 486–490.
15. Lim, T.K., 2012. *Carica papaya*. In *Edible Medicinal and Non-medicinal Plants*, vol. 3: Fruits. Springer, New York, NY, USA, pp. 693–717.
16. Oladunmoye, M., Kehinde, F., 2011. Ethnobotanical survey of medicinal plants used in treating viral infections among Yoruba tribe of South Western Nigeria. *African Journal of Microbiology Research* 5, 2991–3004.
17. Saeed Farhan, Arshad Muhammad Umair, Pasha Imran, NazRabia, BatoolRizwana, Ahmed Ammar Khan, Nasir Muhammad Adnan & Shafique Bilal (2014) Nutritional and Phyto-Therapeutic Potential of Papaya (*Carica Papaya* Linn.): An Overview, *International Journal of Food Properties*, 17:7, 1637-1653, DOI: 10.1080/10942912.2012.709210
18. Gayosso-García Sancho, L.E., Yahia, E.M., Gonzalez-Aguilar, G.A., 2011. Identification and quantification of phenols, carotenoids, and vitamin C from papaya (*Carica papaya* L., cv. Maradol) fruit determined by HPLC-DAD-MS/MS-ESI. *Food Research International* 44, 1284–1291.
19. Pereira, T., de Almeida, P.S.G., de Azevedo, I.G., da Cunha, M., de Oliveira, J.G., da Silva, M.G., Vargas, H., 2009. Gas diffusion in 'Golden' papaya fruit at different maturity stages. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 54 (3), 123–130.
20. Contreras-Calderón José, Calderón-Jaimes Lilia, Guerra-Hernández Eduardo, García-Villanova Belén Antioxidant capacity, phenolic content and vitamin C in pulp, peel and seed from 24 exotic fruits from Colombia. *Food Research International* 44 (2011) 2047–2053.
21. Parni B and Verma Y. biochemical properties in peel, pulp and seeds of *carica papaya*. *Plant Archives* Vol. 14 No. 1, 2014 pp. 565-568.
22. Makanjuola Olakunle Moses, Makanjuola John Olanrewaju. Proximate and selected Mineral Composition of Ripe Pawpaw (*Carica papaya*) Seeds and Skin. *Journal of Scientific and Innovative Research* 2018; 7(3): 75-77

23. AOAC. 1995. Official Methods of Analysis of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 16th ed. Virginia. U.S.A.
24. Addai Z R, Abdullah A, Mutalib S A, Musa K H and Douqan EM.A. Antioxidant Activity and Physicochemical Properties of Mature Papaya Fruit (*Carica papaya* L. cv. Eksotika). *Advance Journal of Food Science and Technology* 5(7): 859-865, 2013.
25. Hunt, S., Goff, J. L., and Holbrook, J. (1980). *Nutrition Principles and Chemical Practices*. John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp: 49-52.
26. Nwofia, G.E., Ojimelekw, P., Eji, C., 2012. Chemical composition of leaves, fruit pulp and seeds in some *Carica papaya* (L) morphotypes. *International Journal of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants* 2, 200–206.
27. Oloyede O.I. 2005. Chemical Profile of Unripe Pulp of *Carica papaya*. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 4: 379-381.
28. Bello MO, Falade OS, Adewusi SRA, Alawore NO. Studies on the chemical composition and anti-nutrients of some lesser known Nigerian Fruits. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 2008; 7(21):3972-3979.
29. Tripathi S, Suzuki J Y., Carr J B. a, McQuate G T, Ferreira S A., Manshardt R M. c, Pitz K Y., Wall M M., Gonsalves D. Nutritional composition of Rainbow papaya, the first commercialized transgenic fruit crop. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 24 (2011) 140–147.
30. Chukwuka, K.S, Iwuagwu M and Uka U.N. Evaluation of nutritional components of *Carica papaya* L. at different stages of ripening. *IOSR Journal of Pharmacy and Biological Sciences*. 2013 6 (4), 13-16.
31. Gomez M., Lajolo F. and Cordenunsi B. Evolution of Soluble Sugars During Ripening of Papaya Fruit and its Relation to Sweet Taste. *Journal of Food Science*—67(1), 442 – 447. 2002.
32. Juceliandy, S. P., Gisele, P. M., Edson, H. M., Bárbara, N. S., Maria, H. M., Maryelle, C. A., Darlaine, M. F., Wagner, FM and Victor, M. M., Maturation control of sugar apple using 1 methylcyclopropene, modified atmosphere packaging and cooling. *J. Food, Agric. and Environ.* 10, 2012, p. 217-220.
33. Lugwisha E H, Fabian C and Othman C O. Postharvest Changes in Physicochemical Properties and Levels of Some Inorganic Elements in Sugar Apple (*Annona squamosa* L.) Fruits of Coast Region, Tanzania. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Sciences*. 4 (3),. 41-48. doi: 10.11648/j.jfns.20160403.11. 2016.
34. Egbunu A C C, Harry E M. and Orji I A. Comparative Proximate and Antibacterial Properties of Milled *Carica papaya* (Pawpaw) Peels and Seeds. *British Journal of Pharmaceutical Research* 12(1): 1-8, 2016.
35. Onwuka, G.I., 2005. *Food Analysis and Instrumentation (Theory and Practice)*. 1st Edn., Naphthali Prints, Surulere, Lagos-Nigeria, pp: 140-160.
36. Iroka C F, Akachukwu E E., Adimonyemma R N. 2, Okereke N C. and Nwogiji C O. Effects of Induced Ripening on the Proximate, Biochemical and Mineral Compositions of *Carica papaya* (Pawpaw Fruit). *European Journal of Medicinal Plants* 15(3): 1-10, 2016.
37. Giami SY, Alu AD (1994) Changes in composition and certain functional properties of ripening plantain (*Musa* spp., AAB group) pulp. *Food Chem* 50: 137-140.
38. Santos C M, Abreu CMP, Freire J M, Queiroz E R, Mendonça MM. Chemical characterization of the flour of peel and seed from two papaya cultivars. *Food Sci. Technol, Campinas*, 34(2): 353-357, Apr.-June 2014.
39. Farina V, Tinebra I, Perrone A, Sortino G, Palazzolo E, Mannino G and Gentile C. Physicochemical, Nutraceutical and Sensory Traits of Six Papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) Cultivars Grown in Greenhouse Conditions in the Mediterranean Climate. *Agronomy* 2020, 10, 501; doi:10.3390/agronomy10040501.
40. FOOD AND NUTRITION BOARD. Recommended Dietary Allowances 9th ed. National Academy of Sciences/National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington D.C., (1980).

41. FAO/WHO. Human vitamin and mineral requirements. Rome; 2001.

UNDER PEER REVIEW